CHAPTER ONE А SHADOWY FLIGHT

Paramount President Kerry McCluggage and Richard Linheim, looking to create a show that revolved around a car approached Glen A. Larson, the man responsible for some of the more memorable television series in the 1970's and 1980's. Although I Larson had gotten out of his deal with Universal Studios a year early and moved to Fox, he promised Universal that he would develop one more show for them. "We actually ran the screen tests in my projection room at Fox, " Larson recalls. "I was flattered that they thought I was the only guy that could do something fresh with something involving a car. Years later, 1 had found out they had gone to everyone on the lot first, so I was the last one on their list." In fact, eight producers turned the new series down, including Chris Crawl and Don Bellasario.

The series' conception came about as a result of Lindheim seeing a sim​ilar computer-laden super-car in Larson's B.J. and the Bear. In that story, titled "Cain's Cruiser," a prototype super-car was being abused by a hot headed police chief, and B.J. had to get it back. That episode pre-dates Knight Rider as it was aired on September 17, 1979. Lindheim then told Larson to base the new series around a car similar to that one.

Now signed to create the yet-to-be-titled series, Larson flew his wife and Kerry McCluggage to Honolulu where he wrote the pilot script over a period of ten days. "I'm in a dark room with one of the world's first word processors and they're out there on jet skis and tennis courts hav​ing the time of their lives. 1 knew I wanted to call the main character Michael Knight. I did not seek too many opinions on what the content

should be; I simply did what I always do. My M.O. is not to write a treatment or even a story. I wrote a script." When Larson finished the still untitled script, he handed separate copies to both his wife and McCluggagc. They both came up with the title. Knight Rider, independ​ently and then compared notes. "I immediately thought that was exactly what we wanted," says Larson. "Michael Knight, in a way, is prototyped by The Lone Ranger. If you think about him riding across the plains and going from one town to another to help law and order, then K.I.T.T.

becomes Tonto."

His inspiration for K.I.T.T. was actually HAL the computer in 2001; A Space Odyssey. "I was looking for an artificial intelligence that really became a full character in the show so that we could eliminate all the expository dialogue by having someone onboard to tell him what's going on as opposed to having Devon stand there and bore us to death with too much exposition. There was a method to my madness to choosing those elements and choosing them the way I did."

Although Larson was quite busy writing the pilot script while in Honolulu, he still managed to go out with his wife and McClluggage in the evenings. "The sun is down, and we are Knight Riders—we're going out to some of my favorite restau​[image: image1.png]


 rants. The same places I took Tom Selleck when we were interested in him doing Magnum,  PIT By the end of his Hawaiian          

vacation, Larson managed to have a complete      

pilot script in hand. "I left Honolulu paler                     

than when 1 arrived, and they had a beautiful tan."

His initial script varied quite a bit from what actually made it on screen.   K.I.T.T.  was  originally  named T.A.T.T,  the Trans Am Two
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''K.I.T.T." arrives on the location. [Photos (Courtesy of Linda Borchers]
Thousand. It was later changed to the Knight 2100, followed finally by the Knight 2000. The Knight 2100 was said to have been made from Michaels personal Trans Am. "The car is Knight 2000." Larson explains. "K.I.T.T, is the onboard computer. The car is one, and K.I.T.T. is the nickname for the computer. I never considered the car was named K.I.T.T, just the character inside." F.l..A.G. headquarters was initially called the Foundation for Law and Justice instead of the familiar Foundation for Law and Government. Also of significance, it is Michael, not Wilton, who first utters the words "One man can make a difference" When Wilton asks if Michael really believes that, he replies, "Lets just say I wouldn't want to live in a world where I couldn't believe it." A scene was also writ​ten for Wilton Knights funeral, as well as a completely different ending to the movie where Michael and K.I.T.T. arrest Tanya and her gang at a pres​entation of the $5.000 prize that Michael won in the demolition derby. Early drafts of the pilot script also had Lonnie as Michael Long's partner. Incidentally, Larson's completed script did not list "Knight of the Phoenix" as the title. In fact, he had never even heard it called that before. "'Knight of the Phoenix' came out of the syndication department, not the creative team. They must've felt they needed a way to distinguish it from the series as a whole."

With the script completed, Larson focused his energy on choosing an automobile for K.I.T.T.'s body and designing the futuristic look it needed. For him, choosing the redesigned 1982 Pontiac Trans Am for K.I.T.T.'s body was a simple choice. "No other car was being considered for K.I.T.T.'s body. I simply liked the look of that car. I thought that it was so extraordinarily clean that it wouldn't leave us a lot of need to do what other people had done previously when it came to motion picture cars. A lot of people went to an organization called Barris. I didn't do that. I liked
the Pontiac, it was a neat looking machine and it was not even really out yet." Larson went to the Vista Group, who represented GM, and they were immediately excited about it. They actually took the first couple of cars right off the assembly line and donated them to the show. "They were cars that were bought and on their way to dealers, and they had to sort of fib a bit because they were not ours," recalls Larson. Shortly after giving the cars to Knight Rider, a trainload of brand new Trans Ams, 32 to be exact, derailed en route to the dealerships. The majority of the cars were in pristine condition with only a few having been bent or nicked up in the accident. However, there was a law that if a car had been in an accident, it could not be sold as new or put on the road because no one knew what really might be wrong with them. Larson adds, "GM said that the cars were in too good of shape to just crush and they donated them to us. They called me at Fox and told me we could have them under the condition

that thev would never be licensed for use on the road and that when we were done with them, rhey would be crushed. I gave half to Knight Rider, and kept the other half for The Fail Guy to use as stunt cars and cars I could bash in. As you probably know, we were very hard on automobiles."

Once the car was in their possession, Larson enlisted the help of a very young and cutting edge Mattel toy maker named Michael Scheffe. "I told him what I wanted in the cockpit and that wc wanted to customize the car and sleek it up a bit. He did all the mockups himself. The whole interior of the cockpit was designed by him and his associates out of Styrofoam. Things like LEDs that had never been used in cars before, really came out of his drawings. He submitted his drawings and I told him I wanted the monitors and various things and that I wanted the scanner."

Perhaps the most recognizable feature on K.I.T.T. was the sequence of red lights that oscillated in the front bumper. The scanner, as it was called, acted as K.I.T.T.'s "eyes." With it. he could monitor any activity within a certain radius and alert Michael if there was a problem. The idea for K.I.T.T.'s scanner actually dated back to the late 1970s. Larson based the scanner light bar configuration on the evil Cylons from another one of his

scries, Battlatar Galactka. "I thought it was neat and it gave the car not only a personality and a mystique, but also a certain power. We took a shot at it, and it looked great. It was too good a device not to use since Galactka did not last long. Remember, out of a dark warehouse, you see that thing come to life. It's a great introduction. Scheffc designed both the interior and the exterior of the car within a week. I was very impressed."

With the car model chosen and the necessary modifications completed, the stage was set to film a prototype presentation to be shown in New York. Larson recalls, "We didn't have time to finish a pilot, so we made a 40 minute presentation, and I chose the scenes that best showed the peo​ple in New York what we were trying to sell." Many fans noticed that K.l.T.T.'s front nose changed dramatically throughout the pilot episode. "I think it's when we came back to finish the picture that the changes were made, like the front nose. What they mocked up for the presentation was 7-10 days worth of shooting, bur once we came back to finish the picture, we had to make it more sturdy so it wouldn't fall apart and make it more how we wanted it."

Glen Larson was in New York driving when he got the call on his cell phone (one of the very early ones) one morning. "They said congrats, you're on the air. I thought that was fantastic because wc had a lot of con​fidence in it. Knight Rider was the last show to get to New York therefore the last show picked up for the network."

When Larson discovered that Knight Rider was picked up, he assumed that the network loved everything about it. NBC told him that they were not sure if the car should talk, and they were not sure if David Hasselhoff should be the lead in it. "1 said, 'what the hell did they buy?' But they never came back and insisted on any changes. We simply prevailed in our vision and they went with us." The reason behind NBC's hesitation stemmed from the failure of another talking car series in the 1960's. "In my youth, there had been a show called My Mother the Car. It was one of the major bombs of ill limes, and this car talked. The fact that I decided that I wanted this car to talk scared the hell our of everybody. What I was trying to do was create
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something that would appeal to the eight o'clock audience which, at that time, I thought would be largely kids. Because of the highly intelligent com​puter on hoard, 1 thought it would also give it an adult kick. I think that completely obscured the problem if it had come off as My Mother the Car. We were able to sell the relationship between Michael and the car. Its onboard computer helped to raise the intellectual level of the show."

With that, Larson returned to the set to finish filming the pilot episode. By diis time, the main casting was complete and the car was built to his spec​ifications. Larson commented, "Dan Mailer directed it; he did a beautiful job with the presentation and executing the jokes, such as crashing through the wall of the jail. He's very inspired. He used to be the art director for ail of Roger Gorman's movies, so you not only get a director, but a guy with a good eye. He shot the car so it had a personality and the funny scenes arc funny. He had a nice touch. Jean Dorleac was the costumer, and we knew what kind of look we wanted for Michael; we wanted a continuation of the car, really."

Larson felt it was very important to interject humor into the pilot. "In a way, we created a comic team, and there's an irony to that. The first time we catch this is when they are driving along and he is falling asleep at the wheel as a highway patrol car passes it with a couple of my stock company actor/comedians in it, who had actually been in Alias Smith ami Jones as part of the bad guy gang. 'Did you see that he looked plum asleep', you know? And they turn around, and K.I.T.T. says 'Oh no. Michael...Michael..." That scene, incidentally, was the first to he filmed for the series. "So really, we started off with some jokes between them, and [David Hasselhoff and William Daniels] had never met. They were on the air, they were a success, they were virtually a comedy team, and they met for the first time later that year at a Christmas party at Universal."

Larson chose his guest cast very carefully, utilizing many people he had worked with in the past. Besides the two actors that portrayed the police​men, Richard Anderson had worked for him previously in The Six Million Dollar Man. Like Edward Mulhare, Richard Basehart was considered to be a higher class of actor which helped raise the intellectual level of the pilot.
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Both Anderson and Basehart were Larsons first choice and, as such, there were no casting calls for them.

Pamela Susan Shoop guest starred in the pilot episode and still holds many fond memories of her time on the set. "I really enjoyed the scene where Maggie's bumper falls off. It was all a lot of fun. It was also amazing to watch the stunt drivers put the car on two wheels. I sat in the stands during the entire scene, so I got to see some amazing feats. To this day, see​ing K.I.T.T. on two wheels was the most breathtaking site I have ever seen! I also watched them jump the car, which was very impressive."

Once filming was completed, Larson realized the pilot ran about seven minutes shorter than what they needed. He quickly wrote three stand​alone vignettes of the two car thieves trying to steal the car. "We did those running gags with the two car thieves, again two wonderful actors 1 went on to work with again. The picture was already in the can and ready to go on the air when I shot those. It turned out to be one of the more fun things in the pilot. It gave it some good flavor and a touch tongue-in-cheek so we wouldn't take it too seriously. Sometimes good things happen after you start it, and that became a good thing because K.I.T.T. became the star of those scenes and the hero."

While the pilot was being filmed, a separate crew worked on filming the opening credits. Wayne Fitzgerald, a specialist when it came to main themes, discussed with Larson the idea of giving the theme a mystical feel​ing. "Wayne really put together the structure of it. Me went out to the desert on a weekend and shot at a couple of different speeds and one of the problems was ir affected the scanner on the front. If you go slow motion or fast, its going to screw up the whole speed of the scanner. Its look and all of that was done completely apart from shooting the show. We were fighting a real time crunch because Universal came to me very late with this order, so we didn't even have time to make a full pilot. We were shoot​ing the main title at the same rime."

Thus began a shadowy flight into a dangerous world of a man who does not exist.....
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CHAPTER TWO 
I AM THE KNIGHT RIDER
Like almost any television show on the air at the time, the casting of Knight Rider's most exuberant star, David Hasselhoff, was a chance meet​ing. In March 1982 at a Soap World Convention or TV syndicates in Las Vegas, Hasselhoff tried to enjoy the weekend, but was swarmed by females calling him "Snapper" and asking for his autograph. Many of them did not even know his real name until he signed the autograph.
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By believing in himself and his abilities, Hasselhoff managed to snag the role of the lone crusader. /Courtesy of Linda Boorhersj
After a weekend's worth of gambling, Hasselhoff boarded a flight back to Los Angeles. He noticed a man a few rows back who kept looking at him and he eventually asked his seatmate who the man was. His scatmatc, an entertainment lawyer, told Hasselhoff that the man was Brandon Tartikoff, the Entertainment President of NBC. Just as he got up to talk to Tartikoff, the seatbelt sign went on. Hasselhoff never got a chance to meet Tartikoff that day. He was unsuccessful in catching up with Tartikoff after the plane landed at Burbank Airport. Hasselhoff had thought he had blown it and missed his opportunity.

A day later, Hasselhoff got a call to come down and test for the lead in NBC s new pilot called Knight Rider. TartikofT had seen the women at the slot machines swarm around Hasselhoff and asked his scatmatc (who had known him from the game show Fantasy) for his name. Hasselhoff was tired of playing the same character, tired of learning so much dialogue, and tired of being turned down for primetime roles. His immediate reac​tion to being hired was, "This is IT! This is the one! I didn't say Tve got to get this part'—I said 'I will get it!' I became obsessed with it, I called peo​ple up, 'Hi, this is the Knight Rider.' Knight Rider...Knight Rider. I was going crazy. I made everyone call me 'Michael' for two weeks. No one could not call me 'Michael'. If you called me and asked for David, I'd say, 'No, this is Michael. Michael Knight'."

The Knight Rider screen test was a near disaster for Hasselhoff. Provided with a Pontiac Trans Am, he could not get his lines together. He asked producers for five minutes. "I went back stage and shouted 'I am the Knight Rider and walked back in, did the scene dead on and won the part. I believed it, I saw it, I drank it, and I got it. And it was the biggest thing that ever happened to me."

Glen Larson, the executive producer with his new vision, commented on David's screen test and hiring. "I didn't pay much attention to David when Tartikoff's people sent him over to me. I had been testing one kid after another and, except for his height, he didn't seem much different in person. I sent a tape of all the tests to NBC and they turned everyone

down. Then I looked at the tape myself. Davids scene was one in which the electronic car was being explained to him. The look on his face and his tone of voice was perfect: 'You gotta be kidding me.' It was just what 1 wanted. I sent the tape back to NBC, saying, 'What about this last kid on the tape?' They finally agreed with me, even though they had another, more serious guy in the running." I hat man was Don Johnson, who would later go on to star in Miami Vice, another NBC hit during the 1980s. Larson adds when Hasselhoff walked in lor the role he was totally irreverent. "The first time the car talked to him, he burst out laughing. He kept adding little shtick of his own, like calling the car 'Buddy,' and pat-ling it like it was a horse. He's the main reason the show works. He has that mischievous look in his eye that tells you, 'Of course you arc not going to believe this, but lean hack and enjoy it anyway'."

Larson remembers the screen test and Hasselhoff almost not getting the role. "After I read a number of people, we wound up doing a screen test on five actors, including Steve Bauer, Don Johnson, and David Hasselhoff. We did the screen test at Fox. When we were done and I looked at the screen tests, I got a phone call from Dick Lindheim saying that NBC did​n't like any of them. 'What the hell was wrong with Hasselhoff?' I said. They said they would get back to me. Two hours later, Lindheim calls back and says you got Hasselhoff!" Larson points out that, "Don Johnson could have done it, but David was ideal tor the role. His size and every​thing worked well." Larson also found out that Universal was not fully behind the concept. 'The suggestion that we probably would not have time to make a whole pilot was a resourceful thing on the part of Universal to salvage the fact that they did not have that much conviction and belief in the thing, and they would have rather just put enough money into a presentation rather than a two hour movie."

Hasselhoff won the role, but it was the critics who apparently decided to squash his excitement. Tom Shakes of the Washington Post said, "David Hasselhoff plays a hood ornament." Not disturbed by the bad reviews, David became more excircd. "You know, I read all this stuff and

said, 'Hey, we got bad reviews. Thai means were gonna be a hit." I don't know why, but it seems to be a formula every time."

Larson says, "The car brings in the kids; the adventure stories bring in the men—who mostly don't want to watch Dallas; David is so handsome that he has carried along with him a lot of the women in the Dallas audi​ence who were his fans when he was in The Young and the Restless."
Not one to jump into his new role lightly, Hasselhoff went on a 14-city promotional tour to promote the concept of Knight Rider. He got people to pay attention to the show, got paid for it, and even received two brand new Trans Ams. While making his rounds at the local car shows, David noticed that Knight Rider captured the imaginations of both children and adults alike. When asked about meeting the show's youngest fans at the car shows, Hasselhoff responds, "I meet every single one of those kids, and I get more out of it than they do. K.I.T.T. is E.T. to the children. He's a source of non-stop love and affection, and a protector."

In the summer of 1982, NBC opened a special post office box for view​ers and offered viewers details on the most exciting car on television. Those who responded were sent a flyer that said, "The Competition is NO Competition," displaying K.I.T.T. alongside a car which resembled the General Lee from The Dukes of Hazzard, and offering a comparison of each vehicle. At die start of the series, Hasselhoff knew that the car was what brought in the viewers.

Gino Grimaldi, one of the producers of Knight Rider explains: "You can't just throw a series like Knight Rider together. The audience is much more 'in' with Things than people give them crcdir for. They know when they are being taken for a ride. With the series we try to get everything as near perfect as possible and the stunts alone do not make a show. You have to have believable characters who work well together. I am pleased to say that everyone gets on Tremendously on Knight Ridtr because we all want it to continue being a success. It has given us, and a few million other peo​ple, a lot of enjoyment."
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With Hasselhoff being cast as Michael Knight, the producers set out to find someone to play the part of Michael's boss, Devon Shire (later to be changed to Devon Miles). Larson sought out Edward Mulharc, a per​former and actor best known for his Broadway performances and his role in The Ghost and Mrs. Muir. They had crossed paths before Knight Rider in Battlestar Galactica. "Edward sort of popped into my head," recalls Larson. "I first saw him in The Ghost and Mrs. Muir, he had this nice quiet dignity and a cerebral quality about him. When you bring someone in like Mulhare, you are lifting the level of competition and content a huge amount." Edward Mulharc was not optimistic about Knight Rider. Hasselhoff said Mulhare expected the show to run three weeks and flop. Mulhare did not buy a home until six months into Knight Rider's first sea​son. He never cared for competing with the car or his fellow actors. "1 do not compete with machinery; I do not compete with actors," he once said. The late producer Robert A. Cinader was faced with a unique problem that he expressed in a 1982 interview. "This kid comes in and complains it's ridiculous that the car gets more lines than the fine actor, Edward Mulhare. What can we do? The kid's right. So he actually got as to slant a lot of the stories awav from the car—which Larson wanted to do eventu-ally anyway."

Even though Patricia McPherson did not appear in the pilot, NBC had already given the go ahead on the series and the character of Dr. Bonnie Barstow was introduced to be the new car's mechanic in the second episode of the series, "Deadly Maneuvers." Larson recalls, "McPherson was not something we needed in the pilot because, remember, Michael sort of breaks with the organization and takes oft. Good entertainment comes out of conflict. At that point, he really did not have a support team. It was just him and the car. We then realized that if you are going to have a machine like that, you are probably going to have to have some support for it. Things are going to need fixing and such, and also it was a way to bring Devon into play a bit more often. It was something we needed for the series, not the pilot." Over one hundred people auditioned for the
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role, including Knight Rider alums Mary Margaret Humes and Anne Lockhart.
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Patricia McPherson [Agency Photo Courtesy Patricia McPherson]
McPherson has fond memories of being cast in the role. "The first episode that I was in was the episode that I tested for the show. I ended up getting it and the person that did not get it was Mary Margaret Humes. We have become best friends ever since that episode. She now plays the mom on Dawson's Creek." McPherson adds that, "There were hundreds of people that were reading for the role. They ended going with me because I came across as down to earth and was naturally able to mechanically Operate things. I just used my experiences with handling other equipment."

Supervising producer Burton Armus believed that her part was not nec​essarily an exciting part. "Her dialogue is mostly expositor)'," he adds. McPherson and Hasselhoff appeared to have great chemistry, but NBC would not pursue an on-screen romance. "No way," Armus responds. "It
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would not work. It's an 8 o'clock show, an action-adventure format. If we were on at nine or ten the audience could probably understand."

Universal Studios agreed to produce the series and Larson began put​ting his vision of Knight Rider together. Not everything was perfect though, as Knight Rider went through so many producers that Larson had to have directors from other Universal fantasy shows or Glen Larson pro​ductions to fill in. Episodes began to take on a different tone and were constantly being rewritten by the producers who came to assist and then left. The essence and content as well as direction of the show was firmly established and the stories quickly became very standard involving such plodines as helping a close friend of a main character, a pretty girl in dis​tress, spies and industrial corruption, and hi-tech weaponry. Buying and then destroying expensive items, such as cars, placed a strain even on stu​dio budgets. The Knight Industries Two Thousand is a variation on the production line model Pontiac Trans Am of 1982, specially adapted by the motor company at a cost of $18,000. Considering there were four K.I.T.T. cars, that was $72,000 that Universal and the show spent making K.I.T.T. appear real. Pontiac, however, did not like all the attention the new Knight Rider car had and requested to Larson that it not be referred to as a Trans Am on screen anymore.

K.I.T.T. was pitied against just about every piece of machinery Universal could get their hands on and in just about every possible situa​tion in order to appeal to the series' young audience unlike CBS' Airwolf, which looked for an older, more mature audience. Larson sought out William Daniels, who was currently on the series St. Elsewhere. "Daniels played in a movie called Two for the Road. His sense of comedy is just wonderful. He played an accountant that kept track of everything, and that's a quality that I thought would work well in an action piece. If Tonto is a pain in the ass to the Lone Ranger, chastising him for making mis​takes, you've got more going on."

William Daniels tells of how he recorded K.I.T.T.'s voice. "I went into a little booth with a recording engineer and a microphone to record my
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lines. I knocked off an episode in about 45 minutes. I never watched the episode while I would do the voice over. I would have the pages that involved K.I.T.T.—not even the entire show. Those pages would have David's dialogue and then K.I.T.T.'s answers. So, I would speak David's dialogue and then I would answer it. I had something to relate to that way." Although Daniels and Hasselhoff rarely saw each other, the chem​istry was there. "I would only meet him at Christmas parties and he would say, "I do not know how this always seems to work out but it always works out'." Daniels told Larson that he would agree to do the voice under one condition - he did not want to receive on-screen credit for it. Daniels felt that by doing it that way, it gave the car a mind of its own. He came into the studio and taped his lines, which were then placed into the episode soundtrack. Daniels' lines during filming were often read by assistants. Hasselhoff and Daniels would only sec each other at the Christmas parties.

William Daniels [Agency Photo Courtesy of William Daniels]
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Daniels recalls, "The casting director wanted to make K.I.T.T. more like a robot and 1 said no, that is ridiculous. I saw a chance for it to be amusing and bright. K.I.T.T. had to have human expression." K.I.T.T.'s voice was synthesized similar to a robot in the pilot episode, but began to sound more human thereafter. The human voice appealed to the fans and they soon figured out it was William Daniels' voice. Daniels comments, "I was walking through my neighborhood and a guy yelled, 'Congratulations on the show'. 1 said. 'What show?' He said, Knight Rider. It turned out that everyone recognized my voice as it was very distinct."

In regards to Daniels as the voice of the car. Executive Story Consultant Richard Okie states, "Daniels treated K.I.T.T. as a serious acting role. He always wanted to make sure he was pronouncing everything clearly. He did get the joke, though. Daniels has that Connecticut upper crust side to him and he realized the contrast of Michael being the California hot-rod​der. He would occasionally correct any dialogue in the script that seemed out of character for K.I.T.T. He was not very gifted when it came to for​eign languages and had coaching to ensure that K.I.T.T. sounded like the super computer he was supposed to be."

Glen Larson and R.A. Cinader oversaw early episodes, but Robert Foster had replaced Cinader midway through the first season due to his untimely death and is responsible for some of Knight Rider's best episodes. Harkcr Wade produced the pilot. Producing for the first season were Hannah Shearer and Steven de Souza; Shearer left mid-season and was replaced with Joel Rogosin. Karen Harris came on staff briefly, but left to produce on Streethawk, another show inspired by Knight Rider.
Just like George Lucas of Star Wars fame. Larson benefited from the merchandising rights. "It was an extremely profitable series for me because of the merchandising. I think 1 had the best deal in the history of televi​sion. As the writer/creator I got 50-50 with the studio on all toys, models, T-shirts and whatnot. And it is still one of the exhibits on the Universal Tour. It was just before the studios realized just how profitable merchan​dising could be."
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On the set with K.I.T.T.
NBC finally got Knight Rider to the air on September 26, 1982 and, facing Dallas in the 9 PM slot on Friday night, left few expecting a top 20 performance in the ratings opposite CBS and its powerful drama Dallas. Most industry insid-ers fully expected to see the show fail and disap​pear of] the network.

"I  think I was  the

only one who believed in it," says David Hasselhoff. "When I first read the script, I thought it was a star maker because it is a show about heroes—along the lines of Roy Rogers and Trigger or the Lone Ranger and

[Courtesy Linda Borchers]     Silver.

When the car dies, I'm going to have it stuffed." The funny thing is when Knight Rider was cancelled, Hasselhoff took it on tour and did have it stuffed and shipped.

Hasselhoff was not surprised with Knight Rider's two-hour premiere on a Sunday night at 8 p.m., opposite Matt Houston. Knight Rider caught the attention of the other networks with a showing of fifth in the Nielsen rat​ings for the week. It dropped as far down as 54th in the Nielsens against Dallas at one point, but the show began to catch on and become NBC's first real hit to bring them out of third place in the network race. Hasselhoff thought the Sunday night time slot was perfect for the show.

David adds that, "I think some of those people wrote their reviews before they even saw the show and that isn't really fair ball. This isn't a case of a guy joy-riding around town in this car looking for smash-ups. We have had some decent plots and I can say that for the first time I'm really proud of my work. I took a lot of bad reviews and punches, but I said from day one that we were gonna make it and make it big. We never had any aspirations of beating Dallas going in, but our first show was higher in

the ratings than NBC scored against them in four years. That's not too shabby." Friday night went from a graveyard to a powerful night. More and more, it seemed that one scries could indeed make a difference.

Simply amazed at its success, Hasselhoff once said, "Who could believe that NBC could make it with a show about a guy who goes around solv​ing crimes in a car that talks? No other NBC show ever survived in that spot." The legacy of the Knight Rider was born and there was no looking back. His opinion of Knight Ruler is simple. "I think it is a good show— because it's about heroes, and the concept that one man can make a differ​ence. The American dream is to once in your life, play 007. I'm doing it and getting paid for it and its great. Knight Rider is not Gone with the Windy but its run. And 1 hope people do realize there is a message hidden among the fun parts—you can make a difference."

In the TVQ ratings, which measure how much audiences like all the series on the air, Knight Rider ranked No. 2 in December 1982, just behind M*A*S*H according to Hasselhoff. Even executive producer Glen A. Larson occasionally expressed personal satisfaction for bringing the show to the air. Larson said, "The middle of the country wouldn't go for another My Mother the Car or another fender-bender like The Dukes of Hazzard. They've had enough of that. So we developed this modern Lone Ranger concept, with a guy rushing about righting wrongs, but riding in this crazy car instead of on his horse. Silver. But who would believe it unless wc did it tongue-in-cheek, like Sean Connery did in the James Bond pictures or Christopher Reeve in Superman! If we played it straight, it would be ridiculous." That tongue and check humor would be what made Knight Rider a success.

Even though Knight Rider never got to face The Dukes of Hazzard head-on in the ratings, David summed it up best. "No contest. K.I.T.T. is smarter. Besides, our scripts are better."

CHAPTER THREE
 THE F.L.A.G. FAMILY
Born on January 8, 1940 in Reno, Nevada, Michael Arthur Long had a rough upbringing. His father died of Leukemia in 1956. To seven-year-old Michael, this was a very difficult event to deal with. He went outside and shot baskets for hours until he was too tired to think or feci anything con​cerning his fathers death.
After that tragedy, life slowly became normal again for rhc budding teenager—playing basketball, listening to rock and roll, and cruising ham​burger joints in his 1956 Chevy. Michael also tried his hand at singing, and even had a record company interested in a demo he made.
In 1969, when Michael was just 20 years old, his mother passed away from "overworking." Michael took her death hard and just two weeks after his mothers funeral, he joined the Green Berets. He was also certified in the Special Forces for diving. Liter that year, he went to Vietnam where he performed counter-intelligence work. In his third year there, Michael was captured and forced into a prisoner of war camp. For three months he planned his escape, making sure that his first attempt was a successful one. He fought his way out of the POW camp, killing his captors in the process and also receiving a serious head injury. The medics were forced to implant a metal plate in Michaels head in order to save his life. He then left the military in 1972 to join the police force.
Around this time, Michael became involved with a very special young lady named Stephanie Mason (although Michael always called her Stcvie). Michael courted her and eventually proposed marriage. Stcvie quickly accepted and it appeared that nothing could come between them.19

A ten year veteran of the Los Angeles Police Department (Serial num​ber 10509, Badge number 8043), Michael quickly proved himself to the force and eventually rose to the rank of Detective Lieutenant. During his time there, he worked in several departments including robbery, vice, bunco, homicide, and industrial espionage.

Michael had been assigned to a case involving the Consolidated Chemical Corporation (CCC) and a plot to steal top secret designs from them. During his six month investigation, Michael became associated with a young woman named Tanya Walker. Although Michael believed that she was on his side, Tanya was actually attempting to steal CCC's secrets by seducing the chairman, Charles Acton. Tanya's associate, Lonnic, managed to escape with a camera riill of CCC's secrets and was ordered to rendezvous with her associates for a trade-off. After witnessing the death or his partner Munizy, Michael nnd Tanya pursued Lonnie into the Nevada desert. Just as lx>nnic was handing the camera to her associ​ates, Michael and Tanya caught up with them. Michael pulled a gun and ordered Symes, the bodyguard, to drop his gun. He then told Tanya to pick up the gun to which she promptly responded, "That won't be neces​sary. I have my own." Michael, stunned that Tanya had double-crossed him, pleaded with her to reconsider. She declined his offer, pulled the gun up. and shot Michael point-blank in his forehead. He fell back on to his car, motionless.

Wilton Knight, dying billionaire and owner of Knight Industries, Inc. had his eye on young Michael Long for quite a while. Wilton wanted him to be parr of a pilot program that Knight Industries was creating. He was flying out to Reno to recruit Michael Long when Wilton discovered his motionless body on a deserted road in the Nevada desert. "My god, we're too late," Wilton stated as the helicopter made an emergency landing. Michael was quickly air lifted back to the Knight Estate in Las Vegas. Wilton chose his own physician, Dr. Wesley, to care for Michaels injuries. An x-ray of his head revealed that die bullet entered his skull, bounced ofl
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the metal plate in his forehead, and exited through his face. With no way

to tell how Michael Long looked before the shooting, Michael was going to need major reconstructive surgery. Using a World War II picture of Wilton, Michael's face was recreated in his image. Wilton had taken a body from a medical school and placed it out in the desert for the police to find. Michael's fingerprints were also changed, and Michael Arthur Long was declared legally dead. With a name change, the newly christened Michael Knight was born with one mission and one mission only—appre​hend those criminals who were above the reach of the law, and prove that one man really can make a difference.

Michael would need help, however. That help came in the form of the Knight Industries Two-Thousand, Michaels new super-car partner. Joined together unwillingly, Michael and K.I.T.T. constantly bickered. Michael was the stubborn one who always seemed more interested in women then in the case, and K.I.T.T. was the by-ihe-book computer who treated Michael more like a son than a partner and a friend. Since they were always paired together, a bond naturally formed between them, and eventually made them inseparable. With Devon Miles, Michael's new boss, and Bonnie Barstow, the mechanic who took care of K.I.T.T, Michael felt like he had finally found his true destiny. Michael became infatuated with Bonnie immediately after he had met her, but she did not return his feelings. To her, Michael was just "the nut behind the wheel" who constantly ran K.I.T.T. into the ground wirh his car stunts that would put a production line model into the junkyard. Michael eventually gave up on trying to start a relationship with Bonnie, and they slowly grew close as friends.

In the Spring of 1983, Michael heard that his former fiancee, Stevie Mason, had been arrested on false charges. Michael look on the case, and the two quickly reconnected with each other. Michaels heart and head wrestled with each other. His heart told him to never leave Stevie again, but his head knew that it could not be that way right now. Michael cleared her of all charges and she was placed in the Witness Relocation Program.

Michael and Stcvie parted ways, but not before embracing and each taking a little piece of the other with them.

That following Fall, Michael discovered that Wilton Knight, Michael's second father, had children of his own. Michael was shocked to meet (Jarthe Knight, Wilton's only son, who could be Michaels twin with the exception of some facial fair. Michael confronts Devon only to find out that Wilton had constructed his in Garthe's image. Since Garthe was a convicted criminal, sentenced to three consecutive life terms in prison, no one thought he would ever be seen again. Wilton wanted a son that he could be proud of. Garthe managed to escape his African prison and devised a plan to steal government missiles. Michael caught Garthe and sent him back to prison.

Michael's past caught up with him again when Cameron Zachary dis​covered that he was really Michael Long. Cameron wanted revenge on Michael because he blamed Tanya Walkers death on him. He captured Michael and deactivated K.I.T.T., but in the end, Michael managed to put him behind bars as well.

Throughout the years, Michael would run into Stevie and Garthe Knight again, as well as his old partner on the police force and Wilton Knight's daughter Jennifer. It would nor be until early in 1986 when Michael re-evaluates his life at ihe Foundation for Law and Government. On a rourinc case involving a rheft ar a government data center, Michael was seriously injured by a gunshot wound. Michael had losr his purpose and was unsure of his future. Devon, sensing Michaels agony, managed to contact Stcvie. This time, Michael vows to nor Icr her walk our of his life again and proposes to her. At the wedding ceremony, just seconds after they are wed, the same man responsible for shooting Michael managed to kill Stevie. In a Fit of rage, Michael went out on his own to catch the gun​man. After making peace with Stevies death, Michael went back to the only home he knows—the Foundation. He stayed there another four years until he again began to lose his purpose.

In 1990, Michael quit die Foundation, moved into a cabin deep in the woods, and started a rather unprofitable bass charter. He stayed in seclu​sion until February 2000. I he Knight Foundation was in danger of losing funding and Devon requested that Michael help them until the Knight Industries 4000 was completed. Michael reluctantly agreed under the con​dition that he was partnered up with K.I.T.T. again. Michael managed to stop some crooked cops and saved the Knight Foundation from going under, proving once again that one man can make a diflerence.

The son of a British Member of Parliament, Professor Devon Miles grew up in Great Britain, passing his time by playing cricket and riding motorcycles. In fact, Devon made quite a name for himself in the tourist trophy races. During World War II, Devon was with the O.S.S. in France. It was in a Paris cafe that he met a young lady and quickly fell in love with her. However, he had a dury to his country and was forced to part ways with her. While undercover, he met a young man named Wilton Knight. l'hey quickly developed a friendship that would last almost thirty years. Soon after that, Devon was captured twice in German prison camps and managed to escape both times. While he was being held captive, a London bombing killed his father, Cedric, and his mother. The war ended and Devon decided to head overseas to the United States to start a new life. He began to make government contacts that would prove useful in the future.

He became rc-associatcd with his old milirary friend, Wilton Knight, in the early 1960s. Wilton hud since become a billionaire and was in the process of beginning a new organization dedicated to fighting crime—the Foundation for Law and Govcmrncnr. Wilton appointed Devon the chairman of F.L.A.G. when it was officially created in 1965. Devon was responsible for overseeing F.L.A.G.s administrative concerns, as well as appointing lawyers for their legal branch.

One of Devon's greatest passions was his antique automobile collection. He owned a 1937 Benrley, 1920s Cadillacs, a 1952 Nash-Hcaly, 1950s Mercedes', and a 1982 Mercedes convertible. His love of cars eventually allowed him to oversee the construction of the Knight 2000 in  1982.

Devon was also one of three people that Wilton Knight trusted with the formula for K.l.T.T.'s molecular bonded shell. Wilton died in late 1982, leaving Devon in charge as the executive director of the Foundation for Law and Government.

Devon remained the head of F.L.A.G. (I-atcr renamed The Knight Foundation) until the year 2000, when Thomas Watts injected him with a lethal dose of poison while in the hospital for a blow to the head. Devon died, but his legacy—Wiltons legacy—lived on.

Born on November 24 in Marin County, Dr. Bonnie Barstow was responsible for maintaining K.I.T.T. s systems. Although Bonnie's father wanted her to be a doctor, her heart was set on becoming a computer sci​entist. She attended M.I.T. as well as Stanford University where she earned a degree in robotics and computer science. Her father was a private pilot tor Wilton Knight and managed to get her a job at Knight Industries as a cybernetic technician immediately after obtaining her degree. Around the time that Bonnie joined F.L.A.G., Wilton Knight and Devon Miles began work on the Knight Industries Two-Thousand. Bonnie helped to develop K.l.T.T.s voice and Wilton believed that without her help, K.I.T.T. could not have been built. Bonnie was also responsible for designing the Knight Industries semi, showering it with computers and auto cruise capabilities. Until the Fall of 1985 when RC3 joined the team, Bonnie would occasionally drive the semi as well.

From 1982 through 1983, Bonnie maintained K.I.T.T. s systems and occasionally added new Functions such as Micro Jam, Grappling Hook, and a long range infrared tracking scope. In the Fall of 1983, Bonnie left the Foundation to pursue further studies at a San Francisco university. During her absence, April Curtis took over her duties at the Foundation. During a mission in the San Francisco area, Michael surprised Bonnie at the university and asked her to come back to the Foundation. Hesitant at first, Michael and Devon persuaded Bonnie to return. She stayed with the Foundation for the next two years, but what she did after that remains a mystery.

Brought in as a replacement for Bonnie Barstow in Fall 1983, April Curtis contributed many new features to K.I.T.T. including a Third Stage Aquatic Synthesizer, Chemical Analyzer, Trajectory Guide, and Silent Mode. Although most of her background remains a mystery, it is known that April has a sister named Laura Phillips and a niece named Becky. She helped to decipher a bizarre code being transmitted during a rock concert using her past knowledge as an employee at a travel agency. She and Michael often bickered, but it was clear to see they were close friends deep inside. When Bonnie returned in the Fall of 1984, April disappeared. It is not known if she left the Foundation or was simply transferred elsewhere.

A tough kid born and raised in Chicago. Reginald Cornelius III, or RC3 for short, spent most of his youth out on the streets of Chicago, being taken care of by his old friend Keith Lawson since he was six years old. RC3 was afraid of heights due to an incident when he was a child. He was being chased and was trapped on a roof. The only way down was to jump. Once he became a bit older, he began to fight for justice around the streets of Chicago. Borrowing a rifle that his brother brought back from Vietnam, RC3 made a dummy rifle out of rubber. He ran around the streets calling himself "The Street Avenger." When Michael was cornered in a dark alley, RC3 came to his rescue. Bonnie had hired RC3 and some of his buddies to rebuild a demolished K.I.T.T. during a routine mission. Once Devon had seen RC3's work, he thanked him for his help and offered him a position at the Foundation. RC3 would, on occasion, help Michael out with a few missions. While not busy, he began to build a motorbike that was given to him. It was destroyed twice, but RC3 loved it so much that he rebuilt it. RC3 was also given the responsibility of driving the F.L.A.G. semi.

The Knight Industries service rig, or the semi as it was commonly called, was a black GMC rig (license plate California 1U13265) outfitted with state-of-the-art electronics. Designed by Bonnie Barstow in 1982, the semi had seen many exterior redesigns. When originally completed, the trailer was painted in all gold with black accents on the bottom, a large

knight's head insignia on both sides, and the words "Knight Industries" written below it. Immediately after Michael and K.I.T.T.s first mission, the trailer of the semi was painted all white, no doubt preparing ir for the new paint job it would receive. After staying all white for six months, the semi was finally given a new paint job in January of 1983. The semi was now all black, with gold trim and a knight chess piece on both sides. A few months later, another minor upgrade was made when the semi was repainted again with the same black paint job. but the gold stripes were slightly different and the knight chess piece was larger and up a bit higher.

The original interior of the semi had a wealth of computers on every side, as well as tools hanging on the walls and several storage shelves con​taining various replacement parts for the Knighr 2000. Near the back of the trailer was a place to sit complete with a table, coffccmakcr, and phone. In the Fall of 1983, the interior of the semi received an upgrade as well. The area for K.I.T.T. to park was left untouched, however, the loung​ing area was completely renovated. A new computer wall unit was installed, as well as carpeting and walls to cover the trailer's shell. Also added at that time was a Circuit Analyser. This computer device descended from the semis roof and, when connected to K.I.T.T., could diagnose any malfunction. In the Fall of 1984, the semi also received an extended cab to allow more passenger or cargo room. The semi had die ability to drive by itself, but it was a strict Foundation rule that someone must be behind the wheel at all times. It also had a weaker form of K.I.T.T.s molecular bonded shell, no doubt added after K.A.R.R. turbo boosted through the rear door.

Knight Industries was the parent company, and was divided into five branches. The fiscal branch was responsible for the financial aspect of Knight Industries. The next branch was The Knight Foundation, which was the charitable aspect. The research and development branch was located at the Knight Estate in Las Vegas, Nevada. The Knight Estate included a private airstrip, laboratories, electronics lab, and warehouse. Half of the estate was designated as testing space, with a controlled

experimental environment. The technical stall here was responsible for designing and testing all upgrades that K.I.T.T. received. Wilton Knight died here. Also included at the 200 acre Knight Estate was the next branch of Knight Industries, the medical branch. This part was built and staffed in the early 1970V and was headed by Dr. Ralph Wesley. He was the man responsible for looking after Wilton Knight during his final years, as well as rebuilding Michael Long's face after he was shot. Knight Industries had also dabbled in space and microprocessor technology during the 1970's. The fifth branch of Knight Industries was the legal branch, more commonly known as the Foundation for Law and Government. Located in Los Angeles, F.L.A.G. was responsible for han​dling those special cases in which the criminals were too large for con​ventional policemen to capture. Devon Miles was the executive director. F.L.A.G. also branched out into three divisions: the A-Team program, the Mcgaman Project, and Team Knight Rider. The only thing known about the A-Team Program is that William Key served as an overseer to it. In the late 1970s, while F.L.A.G. was busy building the Knight Automated Roving Robot, the Megaman Project was born. Ken Savage was the first "product" of this project, which involved giving a human being mechanical parts, thereby creating a bionic man. Ken Savages wife, who was also a F.L.A.G. agent, was killed during a mission and Ken retired in 1981. The third and final branch was Team Knight Rider. The Team Knight Rider pilot program consisted of one man, Martin Jam/en, and one car, the Knight Reformulation One. Jantzen had an unstable person​ality, and rherebv infected the car in the driver-car svmbiosis. Jant/cn was locked up and K.R.O. was sent away to be reprogrammed. The new pro​gram, started around 1995, consisted of five highly trained operatives combined with five highly intelligent vehicles. Since the days of Michael and K.I.T.T. were over, F.L.A.G. needed a new team to carry on Wilton Knights legacy and fight for justice.

CHAPTER FOUR 
ONE MAN CAN MAKE A DIFFERENCE

The beginning of Knight Rider was not without its share of excitement and hesitation of its major star who inherited the mantle of one man making a difference. "I was as nervous as anybody else," David Hassclhoff says.

" This is salesmanship. It is something 1 have to do because it's part of the job. I'm able to do it because I believe in myself. But deep down inside, I am scared just as anybody would be."

Many fans of the series still wonder who played Michael Long during the opening minutes of the pilot. The actor, named Larry Anderson, explains how he was cast in the role that would eventually make Hasselhoff famous. "My understanding was that a new opening for the movie was written very quickly which included an (overnight) casting session to find the actor to play the role of Michael before the makeover. Obviously, the choice for an actor was narrowed to someone who had the same approxi​mate physical features (height, weight, hair, etc.) as Hasselhoff. I he casting director knew me from other projects and called me late in the afternoon to come to a casting session at Universal to meet the producers. I got a call the same evening to report to the set the next day (or possibly two days later). As I remember it, the make-up and hair department did all the curls in my hair to match Davids natural hair (mine is straight) and on to the set I went with warm script pages in hand. Crazy, huh?"

fans can also notice that Anderson speaks with Hassclhoff's voice and never appeared in the credits for the episode. "I am not sure how the script
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read before they lacked on die new opening, but it's plain that the producers felt the set-up needed further development. The reason why such obvious points were not thought of until so late in production was because, as I under​stand it, my scenes were not part of the original shooting script and weren't written until after most of the principal photography was in the can. I hadn't even read the script and didn't have the time to think it through. Therefore, I later chose not to be credited in the episode, as no actor would lay claim to a performance where someone else is speaking his lines for him!" Anderson also indicated that the movie was shot and all that remained were his scenes. "This was a one day shoot. I never saw a writer nor read the script except for my pages. When I shot the part, I had no idea of the story other than a brief fill-in bv someone on the set. I know nothing about the car nor did it hold any spe​cial significance to me at the time. All 1 knew was that 1 was to run out of the casino, jump in a car. and start driving. Its fairly obvious that the studio had to dub my lines as only the face changed in the transition from Michael long to Michael Knight." Anderson also adds chat, "The location was a mocked-up casino in the lobby of a hotel near the LA. International airport." It is Hasselhoff who gets out of the car to confront Tanya Walker, not Larry Anderson, and the legacy of the Knight Rider is born.

The first season of Knight Rider was a season of growing relationships and serious to lighthearted storylines that explored three different rela​tionships. There was Devon Miles, the head of the Foundation for Law and Government, who constantly berated Michael Knight for his attitude; Michael dealing with K.I.T.T., his new partner, as they get used to each other on and off the road; and the flirting between Bonnie and Michael until the episode "White Bird." Of course, Michael fails to convince Devon that he has no interest in females, vacations or Bonnie for that matter, who would rather flush K.I.T.T.'s systems then be on a date with this knight in shining armor. Altogether, the first season was the inverse of what Knight Rider was during its fourth season and remains a season of immense changes and character development.

The pilot introduced viewers to the newly christened Michael Knight, who can be compared to the mythological story of the phoenix rising from

the ashes. The guys loved the car and the girls loved Hasselhoff. Knight Rider lit the fuse of an NBC line up that would get only better as time went by. Assigned to Friday nights, the show began to erode the popular fan base of Dallas and demonstrated to advertisers that it could bring in the teenage crowd, a demographic highly sought after by NBC. Michael and K.I.T.T. bickered for most of the first season, with K.I.T.T. learning that humans have their faults and Michael silencing K.I.T.T. if needed. Bonnie, who installed an assortment of functions in order to have Michael use them in various missions, helped K.I.T.T.'s development along as well. Among those to last the series were Micro Jam and the Grappling Hook.

Stu Phillips, who composed die Knight Rider theme with Glen Larson, has nothing but fond memories of the scries. "In the pilot, I enjoyed developing the Knight Rider theme and playing it with the whole orchestra, instead of only synthesizers, as Michael and K.I.T.T. were racing towards the airport. I also liked the cue when Michael wakes up after being rescued by Wilton. It did not quite fit, as it did not follow the musical trend of the episode. The pilot had a lot of musical variety to it, starting in Vegas and covering a variety of situations. In my opinion, the following episodes became very typical TV fare."

David Hasselhoff reflected in a 1983 TV Guide article on the limitation of some of the earlier scripts, especially "Deadly Maneuvers."

"There's my cosiar in Knight Rider, for example," he says. "It is a car— a souped-up computerized Pontiac Trans Am called K.I.T.T., that can talk, think, fly 50 feet through the air, drive by itself, intercept police calls, ele​vate me through its roof, push huge dump trucks out of the way, plough through walls, do 10 times as much as the General Lee in The Dukes of Hazzard. But, in one show, K.I.T.T. was faced with the simple task of tow​ing the car of a young woman who had stalled along the highway. K.I.T.T. broke down trying to do the tow, and we had to improvise a line for the car to say to me. When the car could not make the simple tow, Bill Daniels had to explain in a haughty tone of voice, 'lowing is not my thing.

In "Good Day At White Rock," Michael fights bikers who want to take over a small town. Anne Lockhart, who played Sherry Benson in the episode, recalls, "The episode started shooting on August 9, 1982 in Lake Sherwood, California and finished on August 17. The episode was shot knowing that Knight Rider was now a series." Although this was Lockhart's first appearance on Knight Rider, she was already familiar with the series. "In early 1982, I went to an NBC office screen test to read for the role of Bonnie Barstow. I was brought into the room full of executives and, at this point, it was hard to understand the talking car concept—it was not fully explained. They kept asking me to talk to a table! So, I auditioned with a table but I did not get the part." Lockhart, well known from her Battlestar Galactica days, says they joked often on the set. "We gave David the nick​name 'Knight Worm', in reference to a scene in the episode where he jokes around about the night crawlers." James Callahan, who played the sheriff, adds, "Anne was going through a rough time but you couldn't tell when she was in character. She was a real trooper and she looked very much like her mom, who I also worked with. I remember how hard working and friendly David Hasselhoff was, and how talented the motorcycle riders were after witnessing some of the bike stunts they performed." So what did Lockhart think of her most unusual experience of being in a show with a talking car? "Having not seen the effect of the talking car, I had to

just look at the console—the script girl read the lines. There was no focus, nothing to aim at when talking. In most cases, you have some place to look, It was very odd to hear the script girl reciting the lines!"

"Nor a Drop To Drink" began filming in September 1982 and Sondra Currie (who later would marry Knight Rider 2000 director Alan J. Levi) was brought in to play a feisty red-head. Currie remembers that, "Bob Cinader was fabulous to work for and a really sweet guy. It was much eas​ier to work when he took a liking to you. Bob especially wanted me to get this role and even worked around my schedule." Currie, however, man​aged to get in to a bit of trouble on the set. "We were shooting and I decided to wash my face after a scene. They tore into me because they had to reapply my makeup from scratch!" Currie remains proud of her role and adds, "For those who might have noticed, I actually did fall off the bull when it got away and I tell trying to catch him!" The role got her the chance to play a woman who could stand up and take charge. Hannah L. Shearer, who wrote the episode, and Currie remain friends to this day. Shearer recalls, "The network felt uneasy about the scene that took place on the river where Franceses Morgan is seen carrying a gun. I fought the network and told them it was necessary to the plot." Currie was not fond of the scene either, saying that, "It looked funny and awkward since David was so tall. From that point on, they tried to cast women who were more David's height." Currie still jokes that Virgil W. Vogel, the director of the episode, called her "doll" because Currie always felt that her right side was the best side to film. To that, she says Vogcl would say, "Look at what the doll wants!"

Stuntman Jack Gill was amused by the General Lee imposter seen in "Give Me Liberty...or Give Me Death." Since Gill was responsible for the stunt work tn both The Dukes of Hazzard and Knight Rider, the crew teased him a bit about the irony of jumping over the General Lee. "Everyone was telling me, 'Oh, now you're jumping over yourself.' We almost did not do that shot because I had weighted the car out and the transportation guy was bringing it over. He did not know that the weights

were in ii and lost control. The car tumbled down a hill and was com​pletely wrecked. Luckily, I had another car on the trailer with a cage in it so we pulled it oft with that car."

The most famous (and most reused) Knight Rider car jump came in sea​son one's 'The Topaz Connection," where a driverlcss K.I.T.T. leaps a ravine. Jack Gill recalls, "That ravine was 90 feet across and I had to use a bulldozer to create the road so I could build up enough speed. We always mount a camera inside a crash box on the right side of the car for a point-of-view reeling. We ran cables from the box into the car and then I would turn the camera on when I approached the ramp. It would only run for about a minute. When I hit the ramp, it broke the cable loose and sent it flying through rhc air. When I hit on the other side, the camera came loose and started tumbling, but the footage survived." The dangling cable can be seen in the episode. That jump would be reused in "Nobody Does It Better," "Lost Knight," "Junk Yard Dog," and ''Knight Flight ro Freedom."

In a hair-raising chase sequence from "A Nice, Indecent Little Town," Michael must maneuver his way through the crowded alleys of a small rural town to subdue a criminal. Jack Gill recalls one of his toughest car jumps from this episode: "There was only a foot and a half clearance on either side of the car. When I landed, the entire steering column broke off and fell into my lap. Had it happened before rhc car took flight, I proba​bly would have hit the building." Besides having to worry about the jump, Gill was also distracted by a disbelieving professor. "A Technical advisor from a college came out ro watch the jump. He got his rape measure out, measured the ramp, and began making some calculations. He then pro​ceeded to tell the producers and the policemen that I would never make it across Main Street. He said that I would only make it about halfway across and then crash into the cars below. I told him that 1 had done these jumps a hundred times and finally convinced the producers that 1 could do it. When I completed the jump successfully, I got out of the car only to find the guy getting into his car and leaving withour saying a word."

The early part of the first season found Michael saving a stunt show, protecting a senator from a crooked politician, and busting Devon out of jail on trumped up charges. One of the highlights of Knight Riders fresh​man season was "Trust Doesn't Rust." We learn about the Knight Automated Roving Robot, or K.A.R.R., who was for all intents and pur​poses a failed prototype of K.I.T.T. Given no personality and essentially no conscience, the car had all the abilities of K.I.T.T., but little of his con​cern for the preservation of human life. K.A.R.R. became a menace to society, forcing Michael and K.I.T.T. to stop the car before it hurt anyone. Setting K.I.T.T on a collision course, Michael risked it all and came out the winner. However, when Michael pulled K.I.T.T. into the semi for a few repairs, a whole new conflict emerged.

Bonnie and Michael begin flirting with each other and Michael took a risk and asked her out. However, Bonnie's work came first and that meant the car before the man. Michael poked fun at her several times during the first season and Patricia McPherson utilized whatever little screen time she was given to make the viewers interested in her character. Bonnie showed the viewers that a mechanic can be a female and have brains. Her white overalls were dropped after the first season in favor of more casual cloth​ing. After Bonnie returned in season three, she and Michael grew closer as friends. The first season provided Michael with a great bickering partner as well as a boss who was sympathetic to Michael's need for a constant vacation, most of the time.

McPherson recalls her character and her attire during that first season. "Actually, the white overalls were nice because, at first, the character was supposed to be wearing some hot, super flashy, gaudy thing, and I asked if we could tone it down. The dressers at the time believed that the way to go was a sophisticated appearance. That is how the white costuming with the black boots came about, to try to give Bonnie a more sophisticated and elegant look. As the episodes progressed, they went into more color. It got tough wearing this white thing day after day, it was like 'enough of this, can we move into new looks for the character?"

While thev become like family later in the series, Devon Miles and Michael Knight did not always feel that way toward each other. Devon thought Michael was foolish and Michael thought Devon followed the rulebook too much. However, this type of conflict was exactly what made the first season unique and exciting. Devon watched over Michael as a father would, but still feuded with him over little things, like his "girl of the week" mentality—which only got worse after he gave up on Bonnie. Aside from "Hearts of Stone," the biggest transition episode of the first season was "White Bird." In it, Devon tells Michael that he had to give up on love too, Bonnie is heartbroken that she never knew Michael had a fiancee before he was shot, and K.I.T.T. cannot understand why Michael is acting the way he is. No longer is the first season working towards the characters getting to know each other, but they now become Family and must work together to make a difference.

David worked off the screen as well, making personal appearances to get interest in the show. "I've used my weekends to do 17 personal appearances all over the country—the crowds got bigger and more enthusiastic each time out. I also noticed that the audiences changed along the way from primarily four-year-olds to a broad cross-section of the population." As the season went along, David was getting noticed and so was the show. "I really felt we were going over the top when the show got a People's Choice Award nomination for rhc most popular pro​gram of the year and 1 won the award for Most Popular Male in a New Television Series." Knight Rider was on its way up and Hasselhoff was enjoying the ride.

Larson reflects on the beginnings of the show by explaining that, "My deal with them was really to create a pilot and then supervise the hiring of a staff, and supervise the first 13 episodes. Give notes, tell them what I think should be done. I was somewhat critical of the first 13. When they assembled the show, I felt they cut a few corners in a few places. I proba​bly would have spent a little more money in a couple places and 1 would

have probably opted for a bit more humor, a little closer to the pilot. They were good traditional 8 o'clock episodes."

When asked to reflect on the style of the late Robert Cinader, Larson

■

commented that, "Bob Cinader was the first producer and he came from the Jack Webb (of Dragnet fame) cast. Jack was not known for his humor. He had an entirely different style. I used a phrase—not situation comedy, but predicament humor. Get the guy in trouble so the audience is chuck​ling. Bob did not do much writing as he was more oi a supervising pro​ducer. It was a source of annoyance at Fox. The real revelation to me was not that it scored with younger people, boys especially, but the profes​sional people I knew. I got calls from people I never heard of telling me how much they loved this new show and it revealed to me what a love interest people had with cars."

Glen Larson handed the show over to Robert Foster after the first thir​teen episodes and replaced Stu Phillips with another well-known com​poser named Don Peake. Peake recalled how he became involved with the series. "I had just done a TV Movie called I Desire for NBC. I got a phone call a few weeks later from Robert Foster, who wrote the movie. He really liked the score from it and asked if I was interested in writing music for a show about a car. I was a California boy and I loved cars, so I accepted." Peake became very involved with Knight Rider, and was even involved in the meetings where they changed the sound effects of the car. Peake adds, "It was very exciting for me as I was an ex-race car driver and very tuned into cars."

Peake was given one week to compose the music for each episode. "We did a spotting session, which was essentially watching the episode. I would write all week and finish on Thursday night. The scores were then picked up and taken to Universal where the copyists would divide up the parts. I would come in at 10 am on Friday and conduct the orchestra. After that, I would go into a projection room with the producers and they would show me the next show. Richard Lapham, who has since passed away, would sit there and take notes while we talked about the show. He would then type

up the show in detail (at five seconds, Michael walks into the room, and six seconds he turns, etc). 1 scored the show simply from Laphams notes." Peake utilized approximately twenty-five to thirty players in his orchestra, except in rare cases (such as "The Scent of Roses") where sixty players were required.

Music was an important aspect of Knight Ruler and, in most cases, the original theme song was used in a fragmented or slightly different form throughout the scries. With Knight Rider, it was not only the theme that was used, but also a variety of popular or golden oldies. Gino Grimaldi once said, "We take great care with the songs. I sit down with the guy responsible for the music and we sort out rock'n roll, country, and west-cm or popular chart material that might suit particular moments of action. It adds a touch of realism." Composer Don Peake adds, "I was also composing the sound-alike songs. I must have done a pretty good job because the original artist would occasionally call and ask if that was their song! We had permission horn the publishers, it's just that it was so expen​sive to buy the master. It was cheaper for us to rerecord it."

One of the key elements to any good show is a theme song. Knight Rider was no different as it utilized synthesizers and effects to make a com​pelling theme. Stu Phillips and Glen Larson both worked on the theme that is now known the world over. Phillips recalls that, "My decision was influenced to a large extent by the network. They very much wanted for me to try and write something similar to a German recording they had heard that featured a synthesizer on it. The Knight Rider theme itself bore little resemblance to the original. It took some thought to figure our how to approach it with multiple synthesizers. Up until that time on television, the predominate use of a synthesizer was as a lead instrument only. Five or six synthesizers were used to record the Knight Rider theme, along with drums, percussion, and a fender bass. I personally like to make use of the theme of whatever show I am working on. I was pleased that Glen and the network had confirmed that the theme would be used throughout the

show. In my opinion, utilizing the theme helps to better underscore the dramatic moments in the show.*

In 1998, Phillips and Larson achieved Billboard Top 10 status when Busta Rhymes* "Turn It Up/Fire It Up" used a sample of his Knight Rider theme. 'They took the original recording, sampled it, and used it throughout the entire record. I must admit that after listening to the records, it was sort of a kick. Also, having one of the records reaching 'top ten' on the charts was nice. The only drawback was the fact that the writ​ing credits now include several members of the group. Oh well...you can't have everything."

For fans who noticed the musical difference after Peake took over in "Hearts of Stone," Phillips recalls that, "Occasionally, I did watch a few episodes after I left the show. What Don Peake composed was definitely different. However, the producer obviously liked what he wrote. Don used to make demos for Screen Gems music before he became a composer. I would have to say that the main difference in our approach to the under​score was a matter of style."

The cast and crew were informed during the filming of "Short Notice" that the series was renewed. Don Peake recalls, "Richard Lindheim came out and said, 'Guys, you've been renewed'. I thought, 'How nice of him to come out to this funky little night club to tell us.' He was quite pleased."

During the first season wrap party, the producers put the number one hero car up on a pedestal with the scanner flashing and William Daniels' voice in a ten minute loop. Some crew members approached Jack Gill and commented, "Wow, I didn't know the car really talked." Gill was forced to explain that K.I.T.T.'s voice was a recording. This hero car still exists today and tours across the country.

The end of the season saw an ongoing conflict between Patricia McPherson and Executive Producer Robert Foster. Foster fired McPhcrson after her persistent lobbying for a romance between Knight and her character, and because they did not find her glamorous enough. McPhcrson was replaced by another former model, Rebecca Holden, who
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played April Curtis. Patricia comments thai, "I think we were all surprised at the world-wide reaction we received," she says, "although it was quite flattering 10 realize that I was that popular. I suppose a lot of it is due to the fact that when people start watching a show they get used to the peo​ple in it and don't like change."

David Hasselhoff did not like change either. He was angry about McPherson's firing and upset with his own reaction to it. "The)- let Parti go and 1 didn't have enough guts to fight for her because I was still light​ing for myself. In the second year I really wanted her back. Both of us had survived against Dallas. I said, 'Why arc you breaking up this team?'" The producers did not feel that creating a romance between Michael and Bonnie was a good idea. "That's silly," McPhcrson counters. "David is in a romance on ever)' single show. The best stories are those in which our emotions show. My tan mail says, As angry as you get, we know you love Michael'." Our sentiments exactly.
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